IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN HALL,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-42

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOEL ARNOLD #0104159 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

ARGUMENT IN REPLY

THE CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT CODE VIOLATES THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

# I. The Code unconstitutionally limits the defendant's right to appeal and restricts access to the courts.

The state's answer brief wrongly asserts that a defendant has no constitutional right to appeal a sentence imposed by the trial court. (AB. 28). However, a defendant has a constitutional right to appeal a sentence imposed by a trial court, and the Legislature lacks the authority to thwart that right. Fla. Const. art. V, §4(b)(1); <u>Griffis v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 668, 672 (Fla. 2000); <u>State v. Jefferson</u>, 758 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 2000); <u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>, 685 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 1996). The First and Fourth Districts found the Code constitutional, in part, because, a defendant may appeal an illegal sentence on direct appeal and otherwise has resort to the collateral or post-conviction relief available by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800 and 3.850. <u>John Hall v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 99, 101 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000); <u>James Hall v. State</u>, 767 So.2d 560, 562 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000).

The <u>Hall</u> opinions wrongly equate the constitutional right to

a direct appeal of a sentence with the more limited rules of court regarding collateral and post-conviction relief. The Florida Constitution dictates otherwise. For instance, in <u>Griffis</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court noted that Florida's constitution provides an express, constitutional right to appeal:

> [T]he Florida Constitution, unlike its federal counterpart, contains an express right of appeal, and logic dictates that this state constitutional right should receive at least the same level of protection as the federal statutory right.

<u>Griffis</u>, 759 So. 2d at 672, <u>citing</u>, <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957, 962 (Fla. 1992) (holding federal law represents the "floor" and the state constitution the "ceiling" for basic freedoms).

In <u>State v. Jefferson</u>, 758 So. 2d 661, 665 n.3 (Fla. 2000) this Court held that the Florida Constitution guarantees a right to appeal, which the Legislature may not limit:

> [T]he constitution grants appellate courts jurisdiction to review criminal appeals in the appellate courts, this constitutional grant does not authorize the Legislature to impose restrictions on these jurisdictional powers.

<u>Jefferson</u>, 758 So. 2d at 664. <u>See</u>, Fla. Const. art. I, § 21 (access to courts); Fla. Const. art. V, §4(b)(right to appeal). Further, the state's right to appeal in criminal cases is purely statutory and therefore subordinate to the defendant's constitutional right to appeal. <u>State v. Macleod</u>, 600 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 1992).

Both the right to appeal and the reasonable conditions that

may be placed on it encompass sentencing, as shown by the litigation spawned by the Criminal Appeals Reform Act. <u>See</u>, <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, Fla. Const. art. I, § 21, provides that the "courts shall be open to every person for redress of every injury ... ." This provision applies to appellate courts as well as trial court. <u>Bain v.</u> <u>State</u>, 730 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

Contrary to the <u>Hall</u> opinions, <u>supra</u>, the availability of collateral and post-conviction relief is not an adequate substitute for the constitutional right to appeal a sentence. In the case of Rule 3.800, a defendant may only raise limited issues such as an illegal sentence--which has a high threshold for an entitlement to relief. However, the Code leaves unclear what constitutes an illegal sentence. Further, Rule 3.800(C) for modification of sentence remains completely discretionary and unappealable. Sentencing issues not cognizable under Rule 3.800 because of the necessity of an evidentiary hearing would need to be raised under Rule 3.850. Rule 3.850 does not constitute an adequate substitute for direct appeal because the principle claims of relief generally involve claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and the threshold for demonstrating an entitlement to relief is that the defendant must show a reasonable probability that the sentence would have been different. There is no right to counsel under either rule.

In the instant case, the Code left Petitioner a meaningless right to appeal the consecutive, maximum sentences imposed. As

the sentences comport to §775.082(3)(d), Fla. Stat., Petitioner has only a futile right to review. The 10-year sentence would be illegal under the former sentencing guidelines, which provide for a maximum of 83 months prison. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703.

The Code allows the state to appeal sentences within the "statutory maximum" which are below the lowest permissible sentence, but the Code does not permit the defendant to appeal any sentence within that ceiling. The discretion left to judges is one-dimensional, it may be exercised relatively freely upward, but much more narrowly downward. The Code thus unreasonably constricts the defendant's constitutional rights by eliminating the opportunity to appeal sentences under circumstances corresponding to those in which a state appeal is authorized.

# II. The Code's unbalanced scheme violates the protections against double jeopardy, due process and proportionality.

Unappealable sentences allow the trial court to punish defendants for asserting trial rights, thus triggering the need for a prophylactic rule like that adopted in <u>North Carolina v.</u> <u>Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711 (1969); <u>see</u>, <u>Wardius v. Oregon</u>, 412 U.S. 470 (1973) (due process requires reciprocity).

The Code's appeal provision reveals an inherent double jeopardy problem, which causes it to materially differ from <u>U.S.</u> <u>v. DiFrancesco</u>, 449 U.S. 117 (1980) and <u>California v. Monge</u>, 524 U.S. 721 (1998), upon which the state erroneously relies. (AB. 24-27). The narrow decisions in those cases involved sentencing schemes which preserved reciprocal rights of appeal and are weak

reeds on which to base an interpretation of the federal double jeopardy clause. <u>DiFrancesco</u> and <u>Monge</u> are also highly unpersuasive regarding the proper interpretation of the double jeopardy clause in the state constitution. <u>See</u>, <u>Harris v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 386, 389 (Fla. 1994) (Shaw J., concurring in result only) (calling <u>DiFrancesco</u> "unfortunate").

The Code's limited appellate review of sentences within the "statutory maximum" inevitably leads to the imposition of disproportionate sentences, such as that imposed here. Upward "departures" from the lowest permissible sentence presumptively fail the first prong of the constitutional test for a cruel and unusual sentence, *i.e.*, that the gravity of the offense justifies the harshness of the punishment. This is because the lowest permissible sentence generally constitutes the sentence that the gravity of the offense warrants and which an upward departure necessarily exceeds. Appellate review of upward departures is thus necessary to guard against disproportionality.

# III. Florida's statutory scheme creates a classification that provides for unequal treatment of felony offenders, violating constitutional guarantees to equal protection of the law.

Offenders are entitled to have every essential fact affecting punishment charged, tried, and found by a jury to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See, Apprendi, infra</u>. However, the Code treats offenders differently, because for some offenders the facts essential to punishment are treated as mere sentencing factors, giving those offenders far less

constitutional protection.

The rights to liberty, due process of law, a fair jury trial, and equal protection of law, certainly are express fundamental constitutional rights. To draw a classification impinging on those fundamental rights, by requiring fewer and less precise rights regarding punishment only to some offenders, requires the state to overcome its burden of strict scrutiny, establishing a compelling interest of the weightiest measure. At the very least the Code provides for an arbitrary and irrational classification. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Allen v. Butterworth</u>, 756 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2000) (statute creating more restrictive successive motion standards for capital petitioners than non-capital petitioners violates equal protection).

## IV. The Code is unconstitutional in light of <u>Apprendi</u> <u>v. New Jersey</u>, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000) and progeny.

<u>Apprendi</u> held that the due process requirements for jury findings apply to essential sentencing facts, which must be charged, instructed, and found by the jury to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Apprendi</u> applies whether or not facts used against the defendant in sentencing actually "exceed" any particular statutory threshold.

Two arguments support this. First, the Supreme Court's decision in <u>McCloud v. Florida</u>, No. 006289 (U.S. Jan. 8, 2001) suggests that the Court intended <u>Apprendi</u> to apply to sentencing elements irrespective of statutory maximums. Thus, a court may not add victim injury points without the required jury finding,

even if the final sentence falls within the statutory maximum.

Second, if "statutory maximums" are essential, the court must define what the "statutory maximum" is, and this requires a case-by-case analysis because the concept of a statutory maximum has no fixed meaning under Florida sentencing law. At least insofar as Code sentences are concerned, the statutorily authorized maximum punishment can not be determined until a scoresheet is completed. Thus, <u>Apprendi</u> due-process principles apply to every statutory factor used against a defendant on a scoresheet to determine the offender's sentence. In the instant case, Petitioner's consecutive sentences violate <u>Apprendi</u>.

### A. Florida's Code mechanisms compel application of <u>Apprendi</u> principles because the statutorily authorized maximum sentence varies any time points are added to a scoresheet.

Even if the <u>McCloud</u> case somehow implicated a "statutory maximum", <u>Apprendi</u> still applies to Code sentences because the "statutory maximum" under Florida law is a floating concept with different definitions applicable to different sentencing mechanisms.

The Code, as well as Florida's previous guidelines, demonstrate this floating statutory maximum. The statutorily authorized maximums vary from one mechanism to another, and they vary on a case-by-case basis whenever an individual is sentenced under the Code. Thus, any time a court finds a fact that adds points to a Code scoresheet, that finding necessarily increases the statutorily authorized maximum punishment for the offender.

#### History of Florida Sentencing law prior to 1998.

In the decade or so prior to 1983, maximum sentences were prescribed depending on the degree of the felony: a first-degree felony yielded up to 30 years or life in prison; a second-degree felony 15 years; and a third-degree felony 5 years. <u>See</u>, \$775.082(4), Fla. Stat. (1973). The maximums generally doubled if a recidivist mechanism, such as habitual offender sentencing, came into play. <u>See</u>, \$775.084(3), Fla. Stat. (1973). This scheme provided clear maximums for each sentencing mechanism.

The Legislature substantially reformed non-capital sentencing with the creation of the Sentencing Commission in 1982 and the implementation of the sentencing guidelines in 1983. See, In re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 439 So. 2d 848 (1983) (adopting Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701). The new scheme created three sentencing mechanisms: the guidelines, departures, and recidivist sentences, with various statutorily authorized maximums for each mechanism. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Whitehead v.</u> <u>State</u>, 498 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986) (holding that habitual offender, guidelines, and departures were separate sentencing mechanisms).

Under the guidelines, a defendant's statutory maximum had to be calculated on a case-by-case basis. A point total was applied to a "guideline grid", which set forth a "range", the high end of which constituted the statutorily authorized maximum sentence. <u>See</u>, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d). Alternatively, a judge could impose a "departure" sentence which was subject to the statutorily authorized maximums set forth in section 775.082,

Fla. Stat. (1983)(if not elsewhere specified in the statutes). See, \$921.001(6), Fla. Stat. (1983). A court could also impose a recidivist sentence (if the defendant qualified under \$775.084, Fla. Stat. (1983)) which was subject to the statutorily authorized maximums set forth in \$775.084(4), Fla. Stat. (1983).

Another notable sentencing change occurred when the Legislature amended §921.001, Fla. Stat. (1993), and created \$\$921.001 through 921.0014 and 921.0016, Fla. Stat. (1993), effective for all crimes committed on or after January 1, 1994. With these amendments the Legislature continued the operation of the guidelines, departures, and recidivist sentencing, but modified the outer limits of a guidelines sentence. Now, rather than providing for two distinct ranges ("recommended" and "permitted"), the Legislature gave the trial court a single "recommended guidelines sentence", which the court could shrink or expand by 25 percent. The new statutorily authorized maximum would be 25 percent greater than the recommended sentence, irrespective of what other statutes provided. See, \$921.001(5), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994); §921.0016(1), Fla. Stat. (1993); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.990; Floyd v. State, 721 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1998); Mays v. State, 717 So. 2d 515, 516 (Fla. 1998).

#### Sentencing under the Criminal Punishment Code

The Code represents the latest stage in Florida's sentencing laws, effective for all noncapital felonies committed on or after October 1, 1998. <u>See</u>, §921.0024, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998); ch. 98-204, §6, 1998 Laws of Fla. 1934, 1962-63. The new scheme

modified the hierarchy of statutory maximums established by Florida's penal laws and has made elusive a precise definition of what constitutes an "illegal" sentence.

Under the Code, a score of 363 or more total sentence points authorizes a maximum sentence of life imprisonment. If less than 363 points, the court would need to calculate the "lowest permissible sentence" to find the statutory maximum on a case-bycase basis. A "lowest permissible sentence" that exceeds the maximum set forth in §775.082, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), constitutes the maximum -- and actual sentence. But if the "lowest permissible sentence" falls below the statutory maximum prescribed by §775.082, the maximum set in §775.082 controls.

Thus, the statutorily authorized maximum under the Code could be life imprisonment, the "lowest permissible sentence," or the limit set in §775.082. But a sentencing court does not -and can not -- know which of the various statutory maximums apply in any given case until a scoresheet is completed. Only after calculating a score can the court determine whether a term of years defined by §775.082, the "lowest permissible sentence," or life imprisonment, is the statutorily authorized maximum. This presents notice and due process problems. <u>Contra, Floyd, supra</u>.

Every point added to a Code scoresheet necessarily is relied upon to determine the statutory maximum for an offender. This is most obvious where the "lowest permissible sentence" is the applicable statutory maximum, because the "lowest permissible sentence" is different in every case. Thus, even if <u>Apprendi</u> is

narrowly construed to mean that the Constitution requires jury findings only for facts that increase the "statutory maximum", then <u>Apprendi</u> requires jury findings for every fact (other than prior record) that is used to define the maximum Code score.

The history of changes noted above demonstrates, at the very least, that Florida has had a floating statutory maximum for nearly two decades. Each time a sentence is imposed under the Code or guidelines, the "statutory maximum", by definition, is affected whenever points are added or subtracted from the score. Only after defining the statutorily authorized maximum sentence under Florida law on a case-by-case basis can the court determine whether and how <u>Apprendi</u> applies.

The Kansas Supreme Court recently declared unconstitutional that state's statutes relating to upward departures from the guidelines, in light of <u>Apprendi</u>. <u>State v. Gould</u>, 23 P.3d 801 (Kan. 2001). In <u>Gould</u>, the defendant was convicted of three counts child abuse, and the trial court imposed consecutive sentences on two of the counts, which constituted a departure from the guidelines but otherwise fell within that authorized by state law. The Supreme Court rejected the state's argument that the departure sentences were legal since they were within the statutorily authorized maximum:

> The State reasons that the presumed sentence is not the maximum sentence allowed by law. The State here asserts that the maximum sentence Gould could have received for the multiple convictions of abuse of a child, based on her criminal history classification and the limitations of the "double-double

rule," was 136 months' imprisonment. Thus, the sentence imposed by the district court did not exceed the statutory maximum as contemplated by <u>Apprendi</u>. The State's argument is not persuasive.

Under Apprendi, it does not matter how the required finding is labeled, but whether it exposes the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's verdict. <u>See</u> 530 U.S. at 469, 490-96, 120 S.Ct. 2348. Gould's jury verdict "authorized" a sentence of 31 to 34 months for each child abuse conviction. By imposing two 68-month sentences, the district court went beyond the maximum sentence in the applicable grid box and exposed Gould to punishment greater than that authorized by the jury's verdict. In so concluding, we agree with U.S. v. Nordby, 225 F.3d 1053, 1059 (9th Cir.2000) ("Apprendi makes clear that the 'prescribed statutory maximum' refers simply to the punishment to which the defendant is exposed solely under the facts found by the jury."). Gould's sentence of 68 months for two counts of child abuse exceeded the statutory maximum, and Apprendi applies.

#### <u>Gould</u>, 23 P.3d at 812-13.

Trial courts should not apply minimum mandatory sentencing unless the supporting facts were charged, tried, and found by a jury to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt in this case. The same principle applies to any other sentencing mechanism in Florida where either a minimum mandatory or some other form of heightened sentence requires proof of an essential fact. <u>See</u>, <u>Apprendi</u>, 120 S.Ct. at 2368-69 (Thomas, J., concurring):

> [I]f the legislature defines some core crime and then provides for increasing the punishment of that crime upon a finding of some aggravating fact--of whatever sort, including the fact of a prior conviction--the core crime and the aggravating fact together constitute an aggravated crime, just as much

as grand larceny is an aggravated form of petit larceny. The aggravating fact is an element of the aggravated crime.

<u>See also, People v. Chanthaloth</u>, 743 N.E.2d 1043, 1050 (Ill. App. 2d 2001) (convictions of residential burglary and home invasion with extended term sentence 10 years longer than the maximum was not permissible; trial court's determination based on aggravating factors violated "broad" constitutional rule of Apprendi).

#### B. The Florida Constitution provides independent grounds upon which to apply the <u>Apprendi</u> principles stated above. Fla. Const. art. I, SS 2, 9, 16, 22.

The Declaration of rights anchoring the state constitution has been interpreted by this Court to be of primary concern, and it provides greater due process protection than rights provided by the U.S. Constitution. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Traylor</u>, <u>supra</u> (recognizing primacy of Fla. Const. art. I, §§9, 16); <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 514 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) (rejecting <u>Moran v. Burbine</u>, 475 U.S. 412 (1986), and applying Fla. Const. art. I, §9); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 92 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1956) (on rehearing granted) (holding that unanimous verdict in criminal cases is required the guarantee of a fair trial under Fla. Const. art. I, §22).

The principles discussed in <u>Apprendi</u>, which have their roots in the common law, are deeply rooted in the Florida Constitution as well. For example, in <u>State v. Harbaugh</u>, 754 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that when potentially harmful punishmentrelated facts are alleged in a charging document -- as they must be -- the defendant's due process rights must be protected by

bifurcating the proceeding and withholding the presentation of the sentence-related charges and facts until the guilt determination is made. <u>Harbaugh</u> thus recognizes that punishmentrelated facts must be charged, presented to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt, in a separate punishment determination proceeding. <u>Apprendi</u> also is consistent with <u>State v. Overfelt</u>, 457 So. 2d 1385, 1387 (Fla. 1984) (holding that a jury finding is required before imposition of an enhanced or minimum-mandatory sentence for use of a firearm during the commission of a crime).

#### CONCLUSION

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