IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

JOHN HALL,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC01-42

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

_____/

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In Willingham v. State, 781 So.2d 512, 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), the Fifth District affirmed a statutory maximum sentence imposed pursuant to the Code. Willingham's Code worksheet resulted in a minimum sentence of 13 months in prison. The trial court imposed fifteen years' incarceration which was the statutory maximum for the offense. The Willingham Court explained that under the Code, there is no longer an upward departure nor may a defendant appeal so long as the sentence is within the statutory maximum. The Fifth District explained that to challenge a sentence which is within the statutory maximum, it is now necessary for a defendant to argue vindictiveness. Willingham argued his sentence was vindictive on its face due to its length, his youth, his lack of a prior adult criminal record, and a complete absence of enhancing factors on the

- 31 -

scoresheet. The Fifth District rejected these arguments reasoning that length of sentence alone is not a legally sufficient basis for a defendant to challenge a sentence. The Court concluded that Willingham was unable to adduce any evidence of vindictiveness as there were no plea negotiations or actions by the trial judge to force him to accept a plea offer. Nor was there evidence the sentence was imposed as retribution for having exercised his right to have a jury trial. The *Willingham* Court observed that the Code will probably lead to considerable disparities in lengths of sentences but the wisdom of this is for the Legislature, not the courts.

Moreover, the Code did not abolish the right to appeal an upward departure; rather, the Code abolished the entire concept of upward departures. As the Staff Analysis explains, "upward departures would be eliminated." Senate Analysis at 5. What the legislature actually did was greatly expand the permissible range. The range now is anything from the low end of the Code's worksheet to the "wandering" statutory maximum. It expanded the old guidelines sentence range. The argument falls because the legislature has the right to make the "range" anything it wants. Petitioner is actually arguing not just that he has a constitutional right to appeal but as an inherent corollary of that argument that he also has the constitutional right to a narrow range. And that any sentence outside the narrow range may be appealed. Petitioner is attempting to constitutionalize the guidelines in a particular form. If this Court were to adopt this view, then this Court would

- 32 -

have to decide the range. Of course, the legislature and not this Court sets the penalties, as this Court has repeatedly stated.²⁸

In Scott v. United States, 997 F.2d 340, 342 (7th Cir. 1993), the Seventh Circuit explained that until the Guidelines took effect, federal district judges had all but total control over Prior to the Guidelines, federal district judges sentencing. "could slap the defendant on the wrist or impose the statutory maximum sentence, with no obligation to conform to any particular theory of punishment or even to explain why they acted as they did." Scott, 997 F.2d at 342. The Scott Court also explained that the Guidelines were not designed to protect the interests of defendants. The Seventh Circuit noted that the Sentencing Reform Act instructs the judiciary to produce more consistency among sentences, for the benefit of society rather than of particular defendants, many of whose sentences rise dramatically as a result. But as the Scott Court observed, the Sentencing Guidelines are not exactly a Bill of Rights for criminals.

Here, Petitioner is attempting to do just that. Petitioner seeks to create a bill of rights from the Florida Sentencing Guidelines. Petitioner has no right to a particular type of sentencing statute.

²⁸Bates v. State, 750 So.2d 6, 19 (Fla. 1999) (Harding, C.J., concurring) (observing that the Legislature has the exclusive power to set criminal penalties, limited only by the Constitution and noting that neither this Court nor a defendant can simply choose what penalty will apply in any given case); *McKendry v. State*, 641 So.2d 45, 47 (Fla. 1994) (explaining that it is within the legislature's power to prescribe punishment for criminal offenses); *Rusaw v. State*, 451 So.2d 469, 470 (Fla. 1984) (noting that it is "well settled that the legislature has the power to define crimes and to set punishments").

Relying on Wardius v. Oregon, 412 U.S. 470, 93 S.Ct. 2208, 37 L.Ed.2d 82 (1973), Batey argues that appeals should be a two-way street and that due process should not allow the balances of forces between the defendant and the State to be so skewed. Robert Batey and Stephen M. Everhart, The Appeal Provision of Florida's Criminal Punishment Code: Unwise and Unconstitutional, 11 U.FLA. J.L. & PUB. POL'Y 5, 28 (1999). The United States Supreme Court in Wardius, held that an Oregon rule that required the defendant to give pretrial notice of the use of an alibi defense violated due process. At trial, defendant was not allowed to present his alibi defense because he failed to give notice to the prosecution. Oregon did not allow criminal defendants any discovery against the The State did not have to disclose the names of government. witnesses it would use to refute the alibi defense. Unless defendant engaged in one-sided discovery designed to provide a unilateral benefit to the State, he was completely foreclosed from presenting his defense. The Court held that, absent reciprocal discovery rights, the Oregon alibi rule violated the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Wardius, 412 U.S. at 478-79, 93 S.Ct. at 2213-14. The Court noted that although the Due Process Clause says little about the amount of discovery a defendant must be afforded, it does "speak to the balance of forces between the accused and his accuser." Wardius, 412 U.S. at 474, 93 S.Ct. 2208. The Court stressed that discovery must be a two-way street. Wardius, 412 U.S. at 475, 93 S.Ct. at 2212.

Wardius, of course, involved the constitutional right of a defendant to present a defense at trial. By contrast, here, there

- 34 -

is no constitutional right to appeal a sentence. Moreover, the balance of forces between the state and the accused is not skewed. The right to appeal under the Code is reciprocal. The State may appeal a downward departure and the defendant may appeal a sentence beyond the statutory maximum. Thus, both the State and the defendant may appeal extreme sentences.

In Hall v. State, 767 So.2d 560 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), review granted, No. SC00-2358 (Fla. Apr. 25, 2001), Hall argued that the Code violates due process because the State has the right to appeal a downward departure without providing a corresponding right to the defendant. The Fourth District rejected this argument by recognizing that a defendant can appeal an illegal sentence under the Code.

In Hall v. State, 773 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), the First District held that is was not a violation of due process to permit the state to appeal a downward departure without providing for an appeal from an "upward departure" as well. Hall argued that the CPC was unreasonable because it permits the state to appeal a downward departure. The First District explained that rather than providing for a sentencing range within which the trial court may exercise its discretion as the guidelines did, the CPC permits the judge to sentence within its discretion from the lowest permissible sentence up to the statutory maximum without written explanation. Under the CPC, there is no upper limit to the possible sentence may only be appealed as a departure if it is below the lowest permissible sentence. However, the Court noted that a defendant

- 35 -

may appeal a sentence on the basis that it is illegal or exceeds the statutory maximum. Thus, the Code does not violate the state constitutional right to appeal.

SEPARATION OF POWERS

Hall next asserts that the Code violates separation of powers by infringing on this Court constitutional powers to make procedural rules. Fla. Const. Art. V. § 2(a). The State respectfully disagrees. The Criminal Punishment Code is substantive not procedural. The legislature has the power to establish the penalties for crime not the judiciary. Thus, the Code does not violate separation of powers.

While it is the exclusive province of the Florida Supreme Court to promulgate rules of judicial procedure, the Code, like the sentencing guidelines, constitute substantive law which is within the province of the legislature. *Smith v. State*, 537 So.2d 982 (Fla.1989).²⁹

In Booker v. State, 514 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1987), this Court held the amendment to the guidelines that prohibited appellate review of the extent of a departure that did not violate separation of powers. The Booker Court explained that there "is no inherent judicial power of appellate review over sentencing". This Court

In a footnote, the *Peterson* Court observed that both *Smith* v. *State*, 537 So.2d 982 (Fla.1989) and *Booker v. State*, 514 So.2d 1079 (Fla.1987) were decided when the law was that the Florida Constitution did not provide a right to appeal and probably are no longer valid in light of *Amendments*. *Peterson*, 775 So. 2d 376 at n.1. This observation is incorrect. Both *Smith* and *Booker* are still valid. As explained above, the state constitutional right to appeal does not include the right to appeal the length of a sentence.

noted that both the Florida Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have embraced the notion that so long as the sentence imposed is within the maximum limit set by the legislature, an appellate court is without power to review the sentence. This Court observed that setting the range within which a defendant may be sentenced is a matter of substantive law, properly within the legislative domain. The *Booker* Court explained that appellate review of the extent of departure under an abuse of discretion standard furthered the purpose of the guidelines, *i.e.*, uniformity in sentencing, and that the legislature, by eliminating appellate review on the extent of departure has, in fact, undermined the purpose of the guidelines. But this "observation, however, goes to the wisdom of the amendment and not to its constitutionality."

Mandatory minimum sentencing statutes do not violate the separation of powers.³⁰ If mandatory minimums do not violate separation of powers, then discretionary consecutive sentencing statutes cannot.

The federal sentencing guidelines contain a provision covering sentencing on multiple counts. 31 This provision makes consecutive

³⁰ Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983); Scott v. State, 369 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1979); Sowell v. State, 342 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1977).

 $^{^{31}}$ The provision, § 5G1.2(d), provides:

If the sentence imposed on the count carrying the highest statutory maximum is less than the total punishment, then the sentence imposed on one or more of the other counts shall run consecutively, but only to the extent necessary to produce a combined sentence equal to the total punishment. In all other

sentencing mandatory in certain cases. The Second Circuit has rejected an unconstitutional delegation of authority attack on this provision. United States v. Kapaev, 199 F.3d 596, 597, n.** (2d Cir. 1999) (citing Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 109 S.Ct. 647, 102 L.Ed.2d 714 (1989) which held that the federal sentencing guidelines do not violate federal separation of powers principles). Thus, the Code does not violate separation of powers.

Due process notice & Apprendi

Petitioner asserts he lacked notice of the penalty for his crime and that his sentence violated the recent United States Supreme Court's holding in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). The State respectfully disagrees. Petitioner had statutory notice of the penalty. Petitioner lacks standing to raise an Apprendi claim. He was sentenced to the statutory maximum of five years for each offense, not beyond. Furthermore, the Code as a whole does not violate Apprendi. Thus, the Code does not violate the due process clause's notice requirement or Apprendi.

Petitioner had statutory notice of the penalty. A defendant has constructive notice of the penalty for any new crime he commits through Florida Statutes. *Ellis v. State*, 762 So.2d 912, 912 (Fla.2000) (recognizing that publication in the Florida Statutes gives all citizens constructive notice of the consequences of their actions quoting *State v. Beasley*, 580 So.2d 139, 142 (Fla.1991)).

respects sentences on all counts shall run concurrently, except to the extent otherwise required by law.

The Code comports with the due process clause requirement of fair warning of the punishment for a crime. The Code lists every crime and gives a severity ranking for that particular crime. The Code also contains a worksheet form and detailed directions on how to perform the calculations. Any defendant with a piece of paper and a pencil can follow these directions and determine the penalty. An accused is not deprived of notice of the criminal penalty merely because he must add to determine the penalty. Gardner v. State, 661 So. 2d 1274, 1276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (requiring an accused to add to know the penalty does not deprive the accused of notice). Contrary to petitioner's claim, the Code provides more notice of what the actual sentence will be than the pre-guidelines statutory The First, Fourth and Fifth District Courts have maximum. addressed the related issue of notice under the guidelines and have held that guidelines did not violate the due process clause requirement of fair notice.³² Thus, the Code provides adequate notice of the penalty.

³² Floyd v. State, 707 So.2d 833, 835 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (holding that the "wandering" statutory maximum provision of the guidelines did not violate due process because it provided adequate notice because defendants are imputed with constructive notice by publication of the Florida Statutes and the maximum sentence can be determined simply by completing a sentencing guidelines scoresheet); Myers v. State, 696 So.2d 893, 898 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (rejecting a lack of notice challenge to the "wandering" statutory maximum provision of the guidelines, § 921.001(5), Judge Farmer, writing for a unanimous panel, stated: "every defendant is presumed to know the law and has actual knowledge of one's own criminal history, there is no possible claim of lack of notice as to the guidelines maximum that will be imposed for an offense."); Gardner v. State, 661 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (same).

First, petitioner has no standing to raise an *Apprendi* claim. He was not sentenced beyond the standard statutory maximum of five years for a third degree felony. No fact increased his sentence beyond the statutory maximum. There simply is no *Apprendi* issue in this case.

Furthermore, an *Apprendi* claim must be preserved. And to be preserved, the defendant must object at trial. An objection at sentencing when the jury has been dismissed is too late to cure the problem and therefore, not timely. *United States v. Strickland*, 245 F3d 368, 376 (4th Cir. 2001) (rejecting a claim that the *Apprendi* issue had been preserved by objection at sentencing where the issue was not preserved at trial by jury instruction or special interrogatory). Hall did not object at the charge conference or when the jury was instructed. (T. 145-149; 168-177). Hall did not object at sentencing either. Thus, the issue is not preserved. Moreover, an *Apprendi* error is not fundamental error.³³

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000), the United States Supreme Court held that due process and the right to a jury

³³ United States v. Terry, 240 F.3d 65, 74 (1st Cir. 2001) (applying harmless error analysis to an Apprendi issue and concluding that there was no plain error because the evidence regarding these facts was so strong that jury would surely have made such findings if issue had been submitted to it and the defendant did not contest the amount at trial); United States v. Anderson, 236 F.3d 427, 429-30 (8th Cir. 2001) (concluding that the Apprendi error was harmless because there was overwhelming evidence of drug quantity); United State v. Jackson, 236 F.3d 886 (7th Cir. 2001) (holding that the failure to have jury determine beyond a reasonable doubt whether more than five grams of crack cocaine was involved as required by Apprendi was harmless in light of overwhelming evidence of sale of hundreds if not thousands of grams of crack).

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